IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-703

COREY SMITH,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR MIAMI -DADE COUNTY LOWER TRIBUNAL NO. F00040026A

Amended
INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERESA MARY POOLERFlorida Bar No. 329061 1481 N.W. North River Drive Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 710-7209 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

INTRODUCTION

This is a direct appeal from judgements and convictions and two sentences of death entered following a jury trial before the Honorable Scott Bernstein of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida. In this brief, the record on appeal is cited as AR.@ and the transcript of the proceedings as AT.@.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The Indictment

In December, 2000, Corey Smith was indicted by the Grand Jury in Miami Dade County Florida for criminal acts that arose in connection with the AJohn Doe@gang. Seven others were indicted with him in the fifteen count indictment. Smith was charged with one count of conspiracy to engage in a criminal enterprise, one count of engaging in the criminal enterprise, one count of trafficking in marijuana, and one count of trafficking in cocaine. He was also indicted on three counts of first degree murder and three counts of conspiracy to commit first degree murder. (R. 47-66).

The indictment was amended September 22, 2004, two weeks prior to the start of the trial. The amended indictment added two more counts of first degree murder, one count of second degree murder, and one additional count of conspiracy to commit first degree murder. (R. 70-93). The theory of the criminal conspiracy, contained in the indictment and presented at trial, was that Mr. Smith and his co-defendants operated the

AJohn Doe@organization. This criminal enterprise distributed cocaine, in both powder and crack form, and marijuana, to the Overtown, Liberty City and Coconut Grove areas of Miami over a six year period. During that time, the members of the enterprise in various combinations killed or conspired to kill individuals who posed a threat to the operation of the John Doe organization, or were in the way.

Corey Smith was named in the indictment as the leader of the organization. Smith was indicted for killing drug dealer Leon Hadley (Count VI), Melvin Libsomb (Count VII), Cynthia Brown (Count X), Jackie Pope(Count XII), Marlon Beneby, (Count XIII) and Angel Wilson (Count XVI). He was also indicted in separate counts, for conspiring to kill Hadley (Count V), Brown (Count IX) and Pope (Count XI). The indictment further alleged that Mr. Smith and his co-defendants conspired to kill Anthony Fail, a former employee, and in furtherance of this conspiracy shot into a house occupied by several adults and children. (Count XVI).

PreTrial Motions

Mr. Smith was appointed both first and second seat attorneys. On June 3, 2004, Defense filed a Motion to Suppress, (R. 285-288), a Motion to Sever Counts of the Indictment, a Motion to Sever Defendants and a Motion to Dismiss, based on the States failure to comply with Article IV of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers. (R. 266-284). The Motion to Sever Counts alleged the shooting of Jackie Pope was misjoined as there was no evidence to connect it to the conspiracy. (R. 281). Subsequently, the Defense filed a Demand for Speedy trial.

The Motion to Dismiss was denied by the court on September 14, 2004 after Defense agreed that the Motion was moot because a continuance had been granted the previous June . (T. 9/14, 4). The record does not reflect that the Motion to Sever the counts pertaining to the Jackie Pope homicide was ever heard. Testimony was taken on the Motion to Suppress on September 14, 2004. The Defense presented no argument and the Motion to Suppress was denied. (T. 9/14, 68).

The Trial/Guilt Phase

The events which lead to Mr. Smiths indictment took place from 1994-1999. The Grand Jury handed down the first indictment in December, 2000. The case was not tried for four years, because of the amount of preparation necessary. The first State Discovery Response listed 431 witnesses, organized by what homicide or incident each witness pertained to. (R. 109-121). In the Amended response, the State provided 484 documents (R. 122-135). Additional witnesses and documents were provided as the case progressed.

A team of five prosecutors tried the case. Corey Smith had two lawyers. The trial took place over a period of five months. Jury selection began October 4, 2005 and lasted for nine days. The trial from opening statement to verdict, took twenty- two days. The penalty phase occurred after a break of two months and lasted two days.

The State called eighty four witnesses. Smith did not testify and the Defense called one witness. The State called two rebuttal witnesses. On December 3, 2004 Corey Smith was found guilty of, among other things, four counts of first degree murder. (R. 2694-

2698). The penalty phase began February 7, 2005. The State called eight witnesses. The Defense called six witnesses for mitigation and the State called two in rebuttal. The jury recommended Smith receive a life sentence for the homicides of Leon Hadley (by a vote of 12-0) and Jackie Pope (by a vote of 66). The jury recommended Smith be sentenced to death for the homicides of Cynthia Brown (by a vote of 10-2) and Angel Wilson (by a vote of 9-3).

The State didn= produce any physical evidence at trial directly linking Smith to the homicides. The State witnesses fell into three categories. The testimony of witnesses not essential to the issues on appeal will be omitted or summarized with references to the transcript provided. First, there were fifty two Aprofessional@ witnesses: police investigators, responding officers, crime scene technicians, and medical examiners and various forensic experts. One of these witnesses, Officer Ricky Taylor, was also a victim of a shooting that Smith was not charged with.

Fifteen civilian witnesses testified. Their testimony concerned legal identification of the homicide victims or their personal knowledge of the circumstances surrounding the various homicides, for example, hearing gunshots. Two of these civilian witnesses were present during the shooting into the into the Harvey residence. None of the civilian witnesses directly implicated Smith in any of the homicides.

Seventeen convicted felons, most of whom were incarcerated while they were testifying were called by the State to testify to the circumstances of one or more of the crimes Smith was charged with. These witnesses connect Smith to the homicides as well

as put him in at the head of the alleged drug enterprise

On October 4, 2004, the day jury selection began, the court ordered that a magnetometer (metal detector) be set up immediately outside the courtroom, a seventh floor courtroom at one end of the building. (R. 687). No motion was filed by either side for this metal detector, there was no hearing or precipitating disturbance. After the magnetometer was set up on October 5, all persons going in to the court room, including jurors and attorneys, were subject to a second magnetometer screening and an additional search of their persons and possessions, in addition to the one required upon entry to the courthouse.

During the trial the Defense objected to the extensive security measures, which included armed guards in the courtroom, and a stun belt on the defendant as and the additional magnetometer. The defense requested a factual basis for the security measures, described as highly prejudicial. No basis was given and no hearing was held. These security measures became even more intense and extensive throughout the trial. The jurors **and** the defense attorneys were subject to searches. The courtroom security will be discussed with transcript references in Argument 1.

Five panels of fifty potential jurors were questioned by the court and the attorneys before they reached seventy who were qualified to sit on a death penalty case. An entire panel (panel number 4) had to be stricken due to the their responses to the questions, particularly from one of the jurors who stated he knew the name John Doe, and it was Aconnected with a gang@ (T. 567).

The State divided the voir dire of the remaining panel of seventy among their team of attorneys. One of the attorneys, Mr. Cholakis, questioned the jury about their prior knowledge of this case and the possibility of media coverage. When he characterized the events that occurred in the case as @drug wars@an objection was sustained. The court asked if the term Adrug wars@ was in the indictment and said its usage would be prejudicial to the defendant. (T. 929-930).

Shortly thereafter Mr. Cholakis referred to a group of homicides that occurred between the John Doe group and another group led by Anthony Fail. A Defense objection was sustained. (T. 932). The court declined, at the States request, to read the indictment. (T. 933). Shortly thereafter, Mr. Cholakis again referred to shootings and homicides Abetween these two groups. (T. 936). A Motion for Mistrial was made and denied after brief argument. (T. 937). On October 14, out of the jurys presence, the Defense argued again for a mistrial, citing. Cholakis=mention in voir dire of facts not in evidence. The court again denied the motion. (T. 1007).

During jury selection, Smith=s mother, Willie Mae Smith, a potential defense witness, was asked to leave the courtroom when the rule was invoked. (T. 838). After she left the courtroom and was passing through the hallway, she said to the seventy potential jurors assembled in the hall, AGod Bless you and have a blessed day. Ms. Smith=s remark was reported to the court the next day. (T. 1148). The court asked the jurors, individually and in groups, whether her comment would have any effect on them and their ability to be fair to Mr. Smith. (Argument 2 has a more complete statement of the

jurors= response.). Several of the jurors indicated that Ms. Smith=s remarks seemed intimidating. The Defense moved to have the panel stricken and the motion was denied. (T. 1236). The court entered a written order that Mrs. Smith was not to have contact with the jurors, enter the Justice Building unless called as a witness, or come within 1,000 feet of the Justice Building. (R. 718).

The court excused a number of jurors for agreed upon cause. The court allowed a State peremptory challenge for Ms. Lowe, an African American juror. Defense objected that the reason given was not race neutral. (T. 1442). The Defense objected to the State peremptory challenge of Ms. Campana, another African American. (T. 1447). The Defense objected to the challenge of Mr. Gilbert, an African American male. (T. 1448). The Defense moved again to strike the panel based on the incident with Ms. Smith the prior day, and the motion was denied. (T. 1459). The Defense did not accept the panel based on the objections raised previously, however Smith indicated he was satisfied in response to the court-s questioning. (T. 1459).

After the jury was sworn, the case was delayed for a week because the Judge was teaching in a Judicial college. On October 25, prior to the opening statements, the Defense moved to prevent the State from using photographs of the decedents in the opening statement. The court reviewed the photographs, found that they were not prejudicial and allowed the State to use them. (T. 1483).

The prosecutor began her opening statement as follows, AIf you compete with me you will be killed. If you steal from me you will be killed. And above all, if you snitch on

me you will be killed. The objection was sustained. (T. 1488). The State described the homicide of Domenic Johnson, and stated that Cynthia Brown saw what occurred and told the police what she knew. (T. 1491). Defense objection was overruled. The prosecutor then told the jury that the Grand Jury indicted Corey Smith for the Domenic Johnson homicide. An objection was sustained. (T. 1491). The State said that the State sought the death penalty against Smith in the Domenic Johnson homicide. An objection was sustained, the Motion for Mistrial was denied. The Motion to Strike was granted. (T. 1492). At sidebar, the court reversed its ruling, noting that the court could take judicial notice of the States intent to seek the Death Penalty.

In her opening statement the prosecutor told the jury that Corey Smith was in charge of an organization of persons that sold drugs, primarily in the Liberty City area of Miami. The State alleged that Domenic Johnson, who sold drugs, was shot and killed by Smith in 1996, and Cynthia Brown told the police that she saw what happened. Smith was indicted for the murder of Domenic Johnson. The State said that the evidence was going to show that prior to the date the Domenic Johnson homicide was set to go to trial Smith learned that Brown was the only witness against him. He arranged for Brownsboyfriend, Chazre Davis, to kill Ms. Brown. Her body was found in a motel on Tamiami Trail days before Smiths trial for the murder of Domenic Johnson. As a result, the case was dropped by the State.

The prosecutor stated that the evidence would show that Corey Smith was one of three people who Agunned down@ Leon Hadley in the Liberty City area. Smith let Mark

Roundtree Atake the fall for Hadleys death, and paid off his family. (T. 1502). The prosecutor stated that Smith was responsible for the death of Melvin Lipscomb. Lipscomb was a customer at one of the John Does drug holes that the State claimed were operated by Corey Smith. The rule in the drug holes run by John Doe was Atake it and go, meaning no talking or arguing was allowed. One evening, Lipscomb got loud when he went to purchase drugs. He was chased out of the hole and killed by one of Corey Smiths Ahenchman because he broke the rules. (T. 1504).

The State contended the evidence would show that Jackie Pope, a deaf mute who acted as a lookout for the drug dealers, was killed by someone who worked for the John Doe organization, acting under Smith=s orders. Pope was shot and wounded on New Year=s Eve, 1996, in Liberty City. A police officer on patrol in the area was shot that night. Charlie Brown, a friend of Corey Smith, was arrested for shooting the officer after Pope gave a statement to the authorities implicating Brown. Pope was shot in the Pork and Beans housing project in Liberty City. (T. 1507).

The State called Marlon Beneby, another of Smiths victims. Beneby sold drugs for the John Doe organization. He was killed on Smiths orders because he mixed his own drugs with John Doe drugs to make extra money. (T. 1508). The prosecutor stated that Anthony Fail was another drug dealer who fell out with Cory Smith. He began robbing the drug holes that sold John Doe brand drugs, and Smith ordered him to be killed. Smiths Ahitmen@ drove around the Liberty City area looking for Fail. The hitmen shot up Fails car, but Fail was not in it at the time. Angel Wilson, Fails girlfriend, was driving the car.

She was shot and killed. (T. 1511). Subsequently, a house belonging the Harveys, Fails friends, was shot into during a drive by shooting. Women and children were in the house. No one was killed but occupants of the house sustained injuries. (T. 1511). The State concluded their opening statement by asserting that the evidence in the case would show that Corey Smith was AJohn Doe@ (T. 1512).

The Defense stated in their opening that the evidence would show that the Liberty City area of Miami was known as an Aopen air drug market. (T. 1514). In the early nineties, Corey Smith sold marijuana to make money, like a lot of other young men did. He marked his drugs with a AJohn Doe. logo to get repeat business. The Defense stated that the evidence would show that many people were killed in Liberty City during the period from 1994 to 1999. These deaths were caused by an excess of drugs, an excess of alcohol, and an excess of money. Corey Smith did not encourage the death of anyone in Liberty City at that time. (T. 1517).

The Defense stated that the evidence would show that Mark Roundtree and Leon Hadleys brother had problems. (T. 1518). Roundtree killed Hadley, was convicted of the murder and was serving time for it. The Defense stated that Melvin Lipscomb was chased down and killed by Antonio Godfrey, and Smith did not participate in, encourage or cause the death of Melvin Lipscomb.(T. 1520). The Defense stated that the evidence would show that Smith was wrongly arrested for the death of Domenic Johnson, because the police ignored the statement of a witness who said someone else did it. The Defense stated that Cynthia Brown was a drug abuser, and died during an evening of abusing

drugs, Aa coke party@ with her boyfriend Chazare Davis. (T.1525). The Defense stated that there was no Alogical reason@to connect Corey Smith with the death of Jackie Pope. (T. 1529). The Defense stated that the evidence would show that Marlon Beneby was killed in front of a bunch of people during a fight with Travis Gallashaw. (T. 1530). The fight had nothing to do with Smith. The Defense stated that the evidence would show that when Angel Wilson was killed Corey Smith was locked up in the Dade County Jail. (T. 1531).

After the Defense made their opening the jury was excused. The Defense made an objection to the screening of the jurors that was going on. (T. 1545). The court stated that the security procedures were up to the Court Liaison. (T. 1546). Testimony on the case began on the afternoon of October 25. The first day of testimony concerned the Wilson homicide. Three civilian witnesses testified that they heard the gunshots, saw the car Wilson was in, and saw a car leaving. One of the witnesses saw Wilson in the car. None of the witnesses could identify the shooters(s).

The first witness October 26 said he heard gunshots, saw the white car A shot up@, and saw bullet holes in his front door the morning after. A firearms expert testified that the bullet holes Wilson=s car were consistent with the car being shot into with a high velocity gun such as an AK-47. No gun match was ever made. (T. 1777).

The State then called a crime scene technician for the Leon Hadley homicide, and then called Leon Hadleys mother, who made the legal identification of her son.

On October 27, Julian Lamar Mitchell, the first convicted felon to testify, was

brought into the courtroom in handcuffs and a red jumpsuit marked AD. C. J.@ (Dade County Jail). The handcuffs were removed from the witness in front of the jury. (T. 1831). The Defense objected to the Atheatrical presentation@ of the witness, on the grounds that the handcuffs and red jumpsuit were unduly prejudicial to Corey Smith. The State responded that if the witness escaped, it would be easier to find him in a jumpsuit. (T. 1832). The Defense objected to all the extra security precautions and stated, AWe have never had a conversation with the Court are (sic) anyone else about the security concerns in this case.@(T. 1833). The court responded, AI find it shocking for you to say that you=ve...that no one has ever talked to you about the security concerns in this case.@(T. 1833).

Mitchell testified that he wasn a getting any special deal for his testimony. (T. 1836). He testified that he cut hair in Liberty City. Business was bad after dread locks came in style, so he had to sell drugs to make a living. (T. 1839). Mitchell initially sold drugs for a group called the ALynch Mob@ where he got to know Corey Smith. Smith left the Lynch Mob in the 1990's and Mitchell, after a stint in jail, began working for him. He attained the rank of lieutenant, basically a supervisor. (T. 1850).

Mitchell knew Leon Hadley, who sold drugs. Hadley was shot by A Fat Keith@, but survived. Mitchell testified that Hadley was then murdered. An individual named Mark Roundtree went to jail for the killing, and Corey Smith authorized Julian Mitchell to make payments to Roundtree=s family. (T. 1861).

Mitchell, with the aid of a map, pointed out the drug holes in the Liberty City area,

particularly around 62nd Street and 12th Avenue, the site of the APork and Beans@housing project. He identified the gangs who ran the various holes. Over objection, the State introduced a chart of the hierarchy of the John Doe Gang, and Mitchell was permitted to testify about who the individuals on the chart were, and what the individuals did for the John Doe organization. (T. 1874). He also gave an overview of how the sales worked on the streets and the accounting method used.

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