IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COREY SMITH,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC05-703 Lower Tribunal No. F00040026A

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

/

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0503843 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

polygraph on Roundtree after this statement and some of his answers indicated deception (V74/7; V23/2858).

Smith listed Slattery as a penalty phase witness and called him to testify about Roundtree's statements (V76/78-91). Prior to the penalty phase, the State provided defense counsel with an Amended Discovery Exhibit:

Mark Roundtree made statements to George Slattery in July, 2004. He denied committing the homicide of Leon Hadley. He stated that Corey Smith committed the homicide of Leon Hadley. He stated that he previously implicated himself in the homicide so that he could serve as a witness in proceedings against Corey Smith.

(V21/2797). Based on this disclosure, Smith moved for a new trial and argued that the State had committed a <u>Brady</u> violation by failing to disclose this statement (V21/2856-59). After argument, the trial court denied the motion. (V74/2-19).

A motion for new trial is directed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed absent a clear showing of abuse. <u>Woods v. State</u>, 733 So. 2d 980, 988 (Fla. 1999). In the instant case, the trial court acted within its discretion in denying the motion for new trial. The trial court denied the motion because the defense was well aware that Roundtree had perjured himself numerous times in giving his multiple sworn statements.

Contrary to Smith's assertion, Roundtree's statement does not constitute <u>Brady</u> material. In <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S.

83, 87 (1963), the United States Supreme Court held that the State violates a defendant's due process rights when the prosecution fails to disclose evidence favorable to an accused that is material to either quilt or punishment. This duty encompasses exculpatory evidence, as well as impeachment <u>United States v. Bagley</u>, 473 U.S. 667, 676 (1985). evidence. The Bagley Court further stated that "[t]he evidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 682.

In this case, Mark Roundtree did not testify at trial as to either guilt or penalty. His prior statements, disclosed to the defense prior to trial, were that he did not have any involvement in the Hadley murder and knew nothing about it (September 1996), and after he was convicted of the murder, he gave another statement indicating that he participated in the murder along with Smith and both individuals shot and killed Hadley (January 2001). Roundtree's subsequent statement in July, 2004, to Slattery denied any involvement in the murder, but continued to claim that Smith was responsible. Roundtree explained that he had implicated himself in the murder so that

he could be a witness against Corey Smith. Clearly, Roundtree's latest statement was not exculpatory to Smith, but indicated that Smith was responsible for the murder; a fact established beyond a reasonable doubt at Smith's guilt phase trial. Furthermore, Roundtree's 2004 statement was not impeachment evidence because he was never called as a witness.

Although Roundtree's statement does not constitute Brady evidence, this Court has recently held that the State has a duty to disclose a potential witness' oral statement when the witness is listed as a potential witness by the State and the oral statement materially changes a prior statement. See Scipio v. State, 928 So. 2d 1138 (Fla. 2006) (holding that State committed a discovery violation when it failed to disclose a material change in the medical examiner's investigator's deposition testimony because the State was fully aware that the defendant intended to rely heavily on the investigator's testimony and would be taken by surprise given the changed testimony); but see Scipio, 928 So. 2d at 1155-59 (Cantero, J., dissenting) (noting that the State had not violated the written discovery rules by failing to disclose the oral changes to the witness' deposition testimony). Even assuming arguendo that the State had a duty to

timely disclose Roundtree's oral statement,⁹ the late disclosure did not prejudice Smith's defense.

In <u>Scipio</u>, this Court held that the proper inquiry when dealing with a discovery violation is "whether there is a reasonable possibility that the discovery violation 'materially hindered the defendant's trial preparation or strategy.' . . . [0]nly if the appellate court can determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the defense was not procedurally prejudiced by the discovery violation can the error be considered harmless." <u>Scipio</u>, 928 So. 2d at 1150 (quoting <u>State v. Schopp</u>, 653 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1995)). In this case, despite defense counsel's representations to the trial court that Roundtree's statement was "a smoking gun" and validated their entire defense, there is no reasonable possibility that Roundtree's statement would have materially altered Smith's trial strategy.

Smith asserts that had he known of Roundtree's 2004 statement denying involvement in the Hadley murder, he would have called Roundtree as a witness during the guilt phase and established his defense that the State's witnesses were willing to testify falsely in order to secure favorable treatment or reduced sentences while incarcerated. However, Smith has not

⁹ The prosecutor noted at the hearing on the motion for new trial that the State was not in possession of any written documents or reports detailing Roundtree's July, 2004 statement to George Slattery. (V74/7-8).

identified a different strategy he would employ, he simply would have used Roundtree, an inherently unreliable witness, to bolster the same defense his jury rejected. Moreover, the fact that one witness was willing to lie about his own involvement in order to implicate Smith is not competent evidence to show that other witnesses were lying at trial. Finally, the defense used the belief that Roundtree was still in prison at the time of Smith's trial, serving a life sentence for Hadley's murder, to impeach State witnesses with the suggestion that they were lying at Smith's trial in order to help Roundtree get out of jail (V40/2318; V41/2414). On these facts, no harmful error can be shown, and relief on this issue must be denied.

ISSUE VIII

WITNESS TESTIFYING INCONSISTENTLY WITH HIS DEPOSITION.

Smith next asserts that the trial court erred in failing to conduct a <u>Richardson¹⁰</u> inquiry when a state witness testified inconsistently with his pretrial deposition. According to Smith, the differences between the testimony given at trial by state witness Carlos Walker and the statements made in his deposition violated due process because the defense had not been notified of the change.

¹⁰ Richardson v. State, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971).

State witness Carlos Walker testified on direct examination regarding his role as a lieutenant in Smith's drug organization and implicating Smith in the murders of Dominique Johnson and Cynthia Brown (V52/3880-3925). After Walker had fully testified on direct examination, defense counsel moved for a mistrial based upon the state calling a "witness to the stand without telling us or giving us an opportunity to tell us the man is a perjuror [sic] saying I was a perjuror [sic]." (V52/3923). Defense counsel continued: "And we feel like, number one, they should have never called a perjuror [sic] and, number two, they should have noticed in advance of the perjury so we could at least find out what is going on." Id. In response, the prosecutor noted the following: "He knows what the issues are. He also has the witness's prior statement where he gave the same testimony." (V52/3923). The court said that the defense could impeach the witness and denied the motion for mistrial. Id.

It must be noted initially that this issue is not preserved for review. The defense counsel in this case asked for a mistrial, but did not seek an inquiry into the circumstances or even allege that there had been a discovery violation. <u>Reynolds</u>, 934 So. 2d at 1150 (issue on appeal must be the same specific claim raised below). Although Smith now asserts the trial court failed "to give the Defense the opportunity to show

how their trial preparation was hindered by the State's failure disclose the witness's recantation of his to discoverv statement" (I.B., p. 96), the defense made no such request below. Counsel did not assert that his preparation or strategy would have been different and he never requested a Richardson inquiry. See generally Suggs v. State, 644 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1994) (noting that [pre-Schopp] "failure to conduct a Richardson hearing in the face of a discovery violation is per se reversible error once the violation has been brought to the court's attention and a Richardson hearing has been requested.") (emphasis added); Copeland v. State, 566 So. 2d 856, 858 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (no "magic words" required to necessitate inquiry, only the fact that a discovery request has not been met). Thus, the instant claim should be deemed waived on appeal. In any case, Smith is clearly not entitled to relief.

First, the defense was fully aware of Carlos Walker's initial statements to the police implicating Smith in the murders of Cynthia Brown and Dominique Johnson. Indeed, on redirect, Walker testified that he told homicide detectives the same information he provided at trial (V53/3961-62). The record reflects that several of Walker's pretrial statements were disclosed, including Walker's taped statement (V1/128), and sworn statements of 14 pages (V1/131), 26 pages (V1/131), and 22

pages (V1/133). Smith has not identified any statement by Walker that was not disclosed to the defense. Under these facts, Smith has failed to show any discovery violation by the State. <u>See Materno v. State</u>, 766 So. 2d 358, 359 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (no discovery violation where statement was included in the detective's written report turned over to the defense). Consequently, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Smith's motion for a mistrial. <u>See Pender v. State</u>, 700 So. 2d 664, 667 (Fla. 1997) (when "a trial court rules that no discovery violation occurred, the reviewing court must first determine whether the trial court abused its discretion").

Smith's reliance on <u>Scipio v. State</u>, 928 So. 2d 1138 (Fla. 2006) is misplaced. In <u>Scipio</u>, this Court found a discovery violation by the State when it failed to disclose to the defense a material change in the medical examiner's investigator's deposition testimony where the State was aware the defendant intended to rely upon the investigator's earlier testimony and would be taken by surprise at trial. The defense in <u>Scipio</u> was never informed that the investigator had reviewed a photograph after the deposition and determined that the object under the victim's body was a pager, not a gun. The claim of self-defense was predicated, in part, upon the investigator's deposition testimony that he observed what appeared to be a gun under the

victim's body, so the change in testimony prejudiced the defense.

In this case, the defense was fully aware of Carlos Walker's statements to the police implicating Smith in the murders as well as his deposition wherein he denied such knowledge. There was certainly no surprise to the defense; Walker's trial testimony simply mirrored his earlier statements which had been turned over to the defense. Thus, <u>Scipio</u> provides no support for reversing Smith's convictions.

Similarly, State v. Evans, 770 So. 2d 1174 (Fla. 2000), provides little support for Smith's argument on appeal. In Evans, a witness told the police in a pretrial statement that she did not see or hear anything relevant to the murder. In a pretrial deposition, the witness also testified that she did not see the defendant shoot the victim. Evans, 770 So. 2d at 1176. At trial, however, the witness called by the State testified not only that she heard the defendant threaten to kill the victim but that she actually saw the defendant shoot the victim. Id. This Court determined that "the State committed a discovery violation in this case by withholding from the defense the fact that Green had changed her original police statement to such an extent that she transformed from a witness who 'didn't see anything' into any eyewitness-indeed, apparently the only

eyewitness-to the shooting." <u>Evans</u>, 770 So. 2d at 1182. In reversing the defendant's conviction, this Court observed that Florida's discovery rules are designed to "prevent surprise by either the prosecution or the defense." Id.

In <u>Evans</u>, both the witness's pretrial statement to the police and pretrial deposition indicated that she did not see the shooting and had no relevant information about the offense. Thus, the defense was truly surprised by her trial testimony directly implicating the defendant in the murder. *Sub judice*, the defense was clearly not surprised by Walker's testimony. Walker testified consistent with his pretrial statements to the police which had been turned over to the defense. Consequently, this Court's concern in <u>Evans</u> about surprise to the defense and trial by "ambush" are simply not implicated in the present case.

Even assuming, *arguendo*, the defendant has shown a discovery violation by the failure to disclose Walker had retracted his deposition testimony and readopted his earlier sworn statements to the police, the error was harmless in this case. In <u>Scipio</u> this Court noted that a harmless error analysis in this context focuses on "whether there is a reasonable possibility that the discovery violation 'materially hindered the defendant's trial preparation or strategy.'" 928 So. 2d 1138, 1149-1150 (quoting Schopp, 653 So. 2d at 1020). Only "if

the appellate court can determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the defense was not procedurally prejudiced by the discovery violation" the error can be considered harmless. <u>Id</u>. at 1150. The defense has articulated no plausible basis to find procedural prejudice in this case. That is, there is no reasonable possibility that Walker's statement [consistent with statements already in defense counsel's possession] would have materially altered Smith's trial strategy.

The defense was fully aware of Walker's sworn statements to the police implicating Smith in a large scale drug ring and at least two murders. See Armstrong v. State, 862 So. 2d 705, 715 (Fla. 2003) (no reasonable probability of a different result in fact in possession of the where "Armstrong was same information he would have had if he had received the actual transcripts of Noreiga's investigation statements."); State v. Muhammad, 866 So. 2d 1195, 1202-1203 (Fla. 2003) (defendant failed to show prejudice based upon written statements of prison personnel which were not turned over to the defense where "there has been no demonstration that the allegedly withheld documents contained any information not already disclosed to Muhammad by other means"). The record reflects that defense counsel was clearly prepared to cross-examine Walker at the time of trial. Defense counsel extensively cross-examined Walker regarding his

inconsistent deposition testimony and the plea agreement he reached with the state (V53/3925-3956). Indeed, Smith fails to identify any potential area of cross-examination not covered as a result of the alleged non-disclosure.

Smith fails to assert how his trial strategy would have changed if he had been notified of Walker's intended testimony. Moreover, Walker's testimony was cumulative to the testimony of numerous witnesses that implicated Smith in the charged offenses. Consequently, the record establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that the alleged discovery violation and failure to conduct a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry was harmless in this case. <u>See Cox v. State</u>, 819 So. 2d 705, 713 (Fla. 2002).

ISSUE IX

PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Smith's final issue challenges the trial court's denial of his motion for a new trial based on alleged prosecutorial misconduct. However, his claim that the cumulative effect of several instances of improper comment denied him a fair trial has not been preserved for appellate review. Although the individual complaints were brought to the trial court's attention during the trial, Smith never claimed below that these incidents had to be considered cumulatively. His motion for a

new trial presented only two of the six particular complaints he raises in this issue, and made no assertion that individual trial errors needed to be considered for any collective effect (V23/3061-68). The purposes of the contemporaneous objection rule would be thwarted by any consideration of this issue, since the trial court was never urged to cumulatively assess the errors alleged. <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So. 2d 701, 704 (Fla. 1978).

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